Getting to Chartered Status: Understanding the views of stakeholders: Executive summary



Nicki Moore, Dr Hannah Blake, and Terry Lai

Date: January 2023

About iCeGS

iCeGS is a research centre with expertise in career and career development. The Centre conducts research, provides consultancy to the career sector, offers a range of training, and delivers several accredited learning programmes up to and including doctoral level. The Centre has a longstanding interest in career education in schools and has conducted a wide range of research exploring how schools can engage teachers in the delivery of career education and guidance. The Centre has a long-standing interest in and has conducted research into the role that career development practises have in addressing social injustice.

The Centre employs researchers with a range of academic and professional backgrounds and works closely with a network of research associates and partners who contribute specialist knowledge and capacity. iCeGS has a strong ethos which connects our research to policy and practise.

To find out more about what we do, download our **Annual Review** (2021).

For further information on iCeGS see www.derby.ac.uk/icegs

Contact information:

International Centre for Guidance Studies (iCeGS)
Institute of Education
University of Derby
Kedleston Road
Derby
DE22 1GB

T: 01332 591267

www.derby.ac.uk/iCeGS

Twitter: @iCeGS

Facebook: @iCeGS UoD

LinkedIn: International Centre for Guidance Studies (iCeGS)



Recent publications

Albien, A, Poulsen, B, Toiviainen, S, and Hooley, T. (2020). <u>Listening to new voices</u> in the career development field. Journal of the National Institute for Career Education and Counselling.

Gough, J & Neary, S. (2020) <u>The Career Development Profession:</u>
Professionalism, and Professional Identity In P. Robertson, T. Hooley, & P. McCash. (Eds.), Oxford Handbook of Career Development. Oxford University Press

Hooley, T. and Staunton, T. (2020). <u>'The role of digital technology in career development'</u> In Robertson, P., Hooley, T., & McCash, P. (Eds.). 'The Oxford Handbook of career development'. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 1-14

Moore, N. (2021). <u>'Should Career Development be a Chartered Profession?'</u> Career Matters, 9.4, pp. 30-31

Moore, N. (2021). <u>'What has digital technology done for us and how can we evolve</u> as a sector to make best use of what it has to offer?' Journal of the National Institute of career education and Counselling, 46, pp 25 - 29

Thambar, N., Neary, S., & Zlatic, F. (2021). <u>'The 21st Century HE Careers</u> Professional' Manchester: HECSU

Acknowledgements

The research team would like to thank the members of the research advisory group who have supported with this research, and the Career Development Institute for sponsoring it. A special thanks to Claire Johnson who has provided specialist knowledge to the research team





Contents

Executive summary	1
Attitudes to petitioning for a Royal Charter	1
Understanding the differences between an individual charter and the existing process of registration	3
Attitudes to assessment for an individual chartership	
Challenges to a successful petition for a Royal Charter	3
Developing the evidence base	4
And finally	4
Actions specifically for the CDI	6
Actions for all professional associations and associated stakeholders	6
References	8
Bibliography	8



Executive summary

In 2021, The Career Development Institute (CDI) commissioned the International Centre for Guidance Studies (iCeGS) at the University of Derby to undertake scoping research into the potential for the career development sector to petition for a Royal Charter. The research was summarised in an article in Career Matters (Moore, 2021). The scoping research highlighted the need to understand the views of stakeholders about their feelings about becoming a chartered profession. This second phase of research has been commissioned to understand the implication and views of all those involved in the field of career development (for ease, referred to throughout this report as 'the sector').

This research captured the views of 657 individual research participants using an online survey, individual interviews and focus groups and it engaged practitioners working across all areas of career development practises and geographical locations across the UK, and beyond. This is an important piece of research which will inform the strategic decision making, not just of the CDI but other stakeholders who operate across the career development sector. The research data has provided answers to many questions and has provided a picture of the commitment of those working across all aspects of career development to have their professional practise recognised and to have opportunities to have their competence validated.

The context for this research is one of an evolving public policy agenda and innovation in the use of technology to deliver career development services in a post COVID pandemic world. In addition, there are new opportunities for people working in leadership roles in schools and colleges in England to undertake careers leader training, thus professionalising the support they provide in terms of strategic and operational leadership. Practitioners are developing and innovating their practices and whilst there is an opportunity to have these practices recognised through the CDI UK Register of Career Development Professionals, this is not an approach which is adopted by all of those practising career development. At the time of undertaking this research, there is no sector wide approach to recognising the professional standards and performance of those working to support individuals to make and implement decisions about life, learning and work.

Attitudes to petitioning for a Royal Charter

The research found a strong appetite for a petition for a Royal Charter amongst those working in the sector. This was not dependent on where participants live, or what job they do. Nor was it dependent on which professional associations they belong to although there is a tendency for those who only belong to the CDI to be more in favour of this move. The professional role of practitioners did result in a significant difference in responses. People who work in schools were more likely than those working in universities to support the idea of petitioning for a Royal Charter. This might be explained by the fact that those working in schools are generally less well paid and less professionalised than those working in universities. University practitioners are also available to pursue professional recognition through Advance HE which offers a progression framework of fellowships which can be



worked through (Fellow, Senior Fellow, Principal Fellow). Whilst there are some who do not support this move into chartership, there were a significant number who do, and research participants provided many examples of how the sector and its stakeholders would benefit. These included:

- an improved experience for clients due to a more consistent approach, role identity and quality standards;
- a higher profile, more recognition of the role, and respect for the work of career development practitioners;
- a greater commitment and recognition for the employers of career development practitioners leading to a potential increase in funding, recognition of the quality services they provide and an increased focus on developing the evidence base; and
- an increased awareness by governments of the positive impact that career development practitioners can have on the achievement of a variety of public policy goals.

These are positive and encouraging messages for those tasked with deciding on the future direction of professional recognition, support, and development for career development practitioners across the UK.

Although the research suggests that this would be a positive move, there are some views which suggested this move might negatively impact on the sector. These issues can be grouped as follows.

- Concerns about divisiveness and a lack of equity due to different practitioner pay and conditions across parts of the sector
- The impact of a new process of individual recognition being applied unequally across parts of the sector and thus creating a new hierarchy and unequal access to advancement opportunities.
- The costs for individuals and employers.

The issue of cost was raised on several occasions. Participants indicated that their preferred level of fee for an individual chartership was set at a level which didn't reflect the actual costs associated with the assessment process which will be required. Phase one of the research suggested several models of support for the process including a process of mentoring and assessment offered by individuals and organisations who could be commissioned to do this on behalf of the lead organisation, in a similar way to that offered by the organisation Advance HE.

These issues raised by research participants should be examined carefully, and a risk assessment undertaken to ensure that these potential problems are mitigated

The success of this activity will also rely on a strong process of communications with individuals involved in delivering aspects of career development across all of the home nations and all other professional associations and organisations to ensure there is total clarity of purpose and process.



Understanding the differences between an individual charter and the existing process of registration

The research demonstrated some confusion in people's understanding of the differences between the current arrangements for registration offered by the CDI and those for an individual charter. These two processes are different but could coexist within a developmental framework. Whilst most research participants had a view of the current register as one which communicated positive messages about their qualifications, commitment to the CDI Code of Ethics and undertaking 25 hours of continual professional development (CPD) per year it will be important that in any future processes of professional recognition, the processes of monitoring and accountability will need to be clearly communicated. Should a petition for a Royal Charter be successful, a decision will need to be made on whether to award individual charters. The research suggests that this would be a positive move and one which would be taken up by practitioners. This move would require some consideration of whether to revise the current register and the individual chartership process into one developmental framework.

Attitudes to assessment for an individual chartership

People indicated that they would be prepared to undertake, and pay for, an additional assessment for this status. The preferred qualification level for an individual charter is postgraduate level and this is consistently the answer irrespective of the level of qualification individuals have achieved during their initial training. This indicates that practitioners are hoping for recognition of their competence which provides stretch. There is also a suggestion by this research that the offer of an individual charter could form part of a re-visioned framework of professional development for the sector. This could encourage practitioners to join as members and then progress through a series of levels which could include, Registered Member, Chartered Practitioner, Fellow, and Senior or Principal Fellow.

There could also be a place within the framework for individuals who wish to join a directory of qualified practitioners which could be a list made available to the public so that they can identify a practitioner to meet their career development needs. The criteria for each level would need to be developed if and when a successful petition for a Royal Charter was completed.

There have been a variety of assessment processes suggested for an individual charter. The most popular was for those seeking this status to submit a portfolio of artefacts demonstrating competence. For many the process should involve several activities including professional discussion, observation of practice and reflective writing.

Challenges to a successful petition for a Royal Charter

The research suggests that whilst there is a very strong level of support for the sector becoming chartered, the success of this project is not without challenges. There are several professional organisations who have a stake in this activity and



phase one of the research did show that any organisation who petitioned for a Royal Charter should be representative of the sector seeking it. The career development sector is complex, and its practitioners work to different job titles and across different segments of the sector. This has the potential to undermine the success of a petition to the Privy Council. The research revealed that irrespective of which professional organisation individuals belonged to there was a feeling that the CDI as an umbrella organisation was best placed to move this forward on behalf of the sector. The implications of this are severalfold, for example organisations will need to align their codes of ethical practice, agree a framework of qualifications and progression frameworks. There is room within the process of individual charterships to differentiate individual roles. It is possible that the organisation who receives the Royal Charter could offer individual charterships for a range of roles such as a chartered careers adviser, a chartered careers leader or a chartered careers coach.

Developing the evidence base

Although growing evidence exists concerning the impacts and outcomes of career development activities, it will be important to further develop the research base so that it covers all segments of the career development sector to support a successful petition to the Privy Council. Examples of further future research which have emerged from this phase of the research include;

- A mapping exercise to understand the recognition of career development practitioners' competence in other international contexts.
- An analysis of the work of self-employed career development practitioners to understand the numbers involved and their existing relevant qualifications, experiences and areas of the sector in which they work.
- An analysis of the qualifications of those operating as career development practitioners.
- An exploration of the media's understanding of career development activities and their impact.
- Understanding the public awareness and experiences of career development activities.
- Mapping the outcomes of career guidance and how these meet public policy goals.
- Consideration of alternatives to Royal Chartership which could achieve similar goals.

It is likely that this research agenda is too much for one organisation to bear and therefore a cross sectoral approach should be established to audit existing research and identify gaps and allocate responsibility for conducting research to support the interests of the sector as whole and to expedite the development of a petition to the Privy Council for a Royal Charter for the career development sector.

And finally

One of the questions posed by some participants in the research was 'what problem does the CDI see as existing that a Royal Charter would solve?' There was no



specific purpose in re-opening this discussion other than as a scoping exercise and research to provide an evidence base for strategic decision making, however, the research has highlighted several outcomes which a successful petition for a Royal Charter would achieve which could be seen as resolving some longstanding problems for the sector.

For the public, a successful petition would also raise the understanding of what constitutes quality in the services which they seek out for life-long decision making about life, learning and work.

For practitioners, a successful petition would improve the status of the career development profession and those that work within it. This would in turn raise the value of the profession in governments', policy makers' and the public's consciousness. The CDI captures the values of career development practitioners when they note that

"Being a career development professional and helping people to maximise their human and social capital and make the most of the transitions throughout their working lives is a privilege" (CDI 2021: P2)

This altruism has long gone unrecognised, and a Royal Charter would help connect and recognise the work of hardworking and dedicated practitioners to the important national and local policy objectives of improving economic and social outcomes of the population.

For the sector, a successful petition would result in consistency in the standards of qualification and practice, values and quality assurance across the UK-wide career development sector and would ensure transferability of knowledge and skills across the Home Nations and across different parts of the sector.

The overall message from this research is very positive. Practitioners across the sector support the idea of the CDI leading a petition to the Privy Council for a Royal Charter for the sector. This is not without challenge and the sector needs to come together to speak with one voice on behalf of their members and to align some organisational policies and practices. It is suggested by the research that, if this can be achieved, the users of career development services, practitioners and those who employ them will benefit.



Recommendations

The following recommendations have merged from the research and relate specifically to the preparation for making a successful petition to the Privy Council for a Royal Charter and not for the career development sector more widely. The recommendations have been grouped under the following headings:

- Actions specifically for the CDI
- Actions for the professional associations representing and supporting career development practitioners to take.

Actions specifically for the CDI

Once the CDI Board has considered the evidence and arguments set out in this research, a decision will need to be taken about whether to continue to explore the potential for a Royal charter and to agree a way forward. Following a positive outcome to this discussion, there are two immediate actions:

- Undertake research to understand the views of the current process for becoming and maintaining registered career development practitioner status.
- Draw together a strategy group with the specific purposes of collaborating on a plan to prepare for and complete a petition to the Privy Council for a Royal Charter on behalf of the UK career development sector.

Actions for all professional associations and associated stakeholders

Each stakeholder organisation will need to discuss the outcomes of this research and determine a response. Following this, they will wish to consider the extent to which they wish to be involved in some or all of the following actions:

- Undertake research to determine some consensus about job titles and how these might align to a new framework of individual chartership
- Agree a communications plan across all sector organisations to elaborate and promote the advantages of a Royal Charter in an evidenced manner to everyone working in the sector.
- Develop a clear picture across the UK of the academic levels of those practicing in career development.
- Undertake research to map the outcomes and impact of career development activities on the public policy agenda.
- Set out a joint programme of research to support the evidence base for a Royal Charter. This should include research into the following
 - A mapping exercise to understand the recognition of career development practitioners' competence in other national contexts.
 - An analysis of the work of private career development practitioners to understand the numbers involved and their existing relevant qualifications, experiences and areas of the sector in which they work.
 - An analysis of the qualifications of those operating as career development practitioners



- Research to explore the media's understanding of career development activities and their impact
- Research to understand the public awareness and experiences of career development activities.
- Consideration of alternatives to Royal Chartership which could achieve similar goals.



References

Moore, N., Neary, S., Clark, L, and Blake, H. (n.p.) Getting to Chartered Status: A scoping activity for the Career development Institute. Derby. International Centre for Guidance Studies

Bibliography

Association of Graduate Careers Advisory Services (n.d.). AGCAS Membership Quality Standard. Sheffield. AGCAS. Available https://www.agcas.org.uk/write/MediaUploads/Resources/Quality/AGCAS_Membership_Quality_Standard_Summary_updated_12.04.2022.pdf

Association of Graduate Careers Advisory Services (n.d.) The Work Experience Standard. Sheffield. AGCAS. Available: https://www.agcas.org.uk/The-Work-Experience-Standard

Allan, G., & Moffett, J. (2015). Professionalism in career guidance and counselling - how professional do trainee career practitioners feel at the end of a postgraduate programme of study? Presentation slides. Skills Development Scotland. Available; https://www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/media/35030/From%20novice%20to%20expert%20via%20competence%20-

%20Janet%20Moffett%20and%20Graham%20Allan.pdf

Allan, G., & Moffett, J. (2016). Professionalism in career guidance and counselling - how professional do trainee career practitioners feel at the end of a postgraduate programme of study? British Journal of Guidance and Counselling, 44(4), 447-465

Bennet, M (2022). How Much Does a Masters Degree Cost in the UK in 2022? FindAMasters Available here https://www.findamasters.com/guides/cost-of-a-masters#:~:text=Masters%20fees%20in%20the%20UK,understand%20how%20postgraduate%20fees%20work.

Business, Innovation and Skills and Education Committee (2016) House of Commons Business, Innovation and Skills and Education Committees: Sub-Committee on Education, Skills and the Economy: Careers education, information, advice and guidance: First Joint Report of the Business, Innovation and Skills and Education Committees of Session 2016–17

Broadwell, M. (1969). Teaching For Learning (XVI.). The Gospel Guardian. Vol 20 Number 41 PP 1-3. Available

https://www.wordsfitlyspoken.org/gospel_guardian/v20/v20n41p1-3a.html Accessed November 2022

Department for Education (2022) Careers guidance and access for education and training providers Statutory guidance for schools and guidance for further education colleges and sixth form colleges. London. DFE



Education Scotland (Foghlan Alba) (2015). Developing the Young Workforce Career

Education Standard (3-18). Edinburgh. The Scottish Government Available: https://www.education.gov.scot/Documents/dyw2-career-education-standard-0915.pdf

Education Wales (Addysyg Cymry) (2022). Careers and work-related experiences (CWRE). A toolkit for supporting the development of CWRE in schools and settings. Cardiff. The Welsh Government

HM Government (2022) Levelling Up the United Kingdom. Levelling Up White Paper. CP 604. HM Government. www.gov.uk/government/publications/levelling-up-theunited-kingdom

Moore, N (2021). Should Career Development be a Chartered Profession? Career Matters. 9.4 pp 30-31. Stourbridge. Career Development Institute.

Moore, N., Neary, S., Clark, L, and Blake, H. (n.p.) Getting to Chartered Status: A scoping activity for the Career development Institute. Derby. International Centre for Guidance Studies

Mulvey (2011) The Careers Profession Task Force: Vice Chair's perspective in Journal of the National Institute for Career Education and Counselling. Vol 27:1.

Neary, S. (2014) Professional identity: What I call myself defines who I am. Career Matters. 2.3 pp 14-15. Stourbridge. Career Development Institute.

Neary, S. and Johnson, C. (2015). Enhancing professionalism – progressingthe career development sector. Journal of the National Institute for Career Education and Counselling. Issue 35. Godalming. NICEC

Neary, S. and Priestly, P. (2018). Workforce Needs of the Career Development Sector in the UK. Stourbridge, The CDI.

NICE (2016) European Competence Standards for the academic training of career practitioners. Eds Schiersmann, C., Einarsdottir, S., Katsorov, J., Lerkkanen, J.,

Mulvey, R., Poyaud, J., Pukelis, K., and Weber, P. Toronto. NICEC

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. (2004). Career guidance and public policy: Bridging the gap. Retrieved from Paris: http://www.oecd.org/education/innovation-education/34050171.pdf

Robertson, P (2022). The Aims of Career development Policy: Towards a Comprehensive Framework. In Oxford handbook of career development Eds





Robertson, P. Hooley, t. and McCash, P. Oxford. Oxford University Press.

Scottish Government (Riaghaltas na h-Alba) (2020) Scotland's Careers Strategy: Moving Forward. Edinburgh. The Scottish Government Available: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-plan/2020/02/scotlands-careers-strategy-moving-forward/govscotlands-careers-strategy-moving-forward.pdf

Skills Development Scotland (2012). Career Management Skills Framework For Scotland. Glasgow. SDS.

Skills Development Scotland (2022). Careers by Design Report of the Career Review Programme Board. Glasgow. SDS. Available https://www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/

Smith (2008). Aligning Competencies, Capabilities and Resources. In Research Technology Management: The Journal of the Industrial Research Institute. Volume 6, Issue 6, June (2015), pp. 07-11 Washington DC. IRI

The Career Development Institute (n.d.). Training as a Career Development Practitioner. Accessed here: https://www.thecdi.net/Training-as-a-Practitioner

The Career Development Institute (n.d.). Career development Progression Pathway webpages. Available https://www.thecdi.net/Career-Development-Sector-Progression-Pathway

The Career Development Institute (2015) Career Development Progression Pathway. Stourbridge. CDI

The Career Development Institute (2018). Code of Ethics. Stourbridge. CDI

The Career Development Institute (2021a) Career Development Framework Handbook: KS3, KS4 and Post 16. Stourbridge. CDI.

The Career Development Institute (2021b) Career development Framework: Handbook for primary schools. Stourbridge. CDI. Available https://www.thecdi.net/write/Framework/CDI_124-Framework-Handbook_for_schools-v5.pdf





The Career Development Institute (2021c). Career Development Professionals in the 21st Century A Blueprint of Learning Outcomes for Professional Roles in the

UK Career Development Sector. Stourbridge, The Career development Institute. Available :

https://www.thecdi.net/write/Documents/2021_CDI_Blueprint_of_Learning_Outcomessional Roles in the Career_Development_Sector.pdf

The Career Development Institute. (2022). Definitions: Career development and related roles. Available:

https://www.thecdi.net/write/Documents/CDI_Definitions_Career_Development_and_Related_Roles_November_2022.pdf

The Careers Profession Task Force (2010). Towards a Strong careers Profession. An independent report to the Department for Education. London. The Department for Education.

The Department for the Economy (2022). Skills Strategy for Northern Ireland. Belfast. DfE

The Department for the Employment and Learning and The department for Education (2016). Preparing for Success 2015-2020: A Strategy for careers Education and Guidance. Belfast. DENI

The Gatsby Charitable Organisation (2014) Good career Guidance. York. The Gatsby Charitable organisation.

The Institute for Employability professionals (n.d.). What is IEP? Available at https://www.myiep.uk/

The United Nations (2015). Transforming our World: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. New York. United Nations.

Unit for the Development of Adult Continuing Education. (1986). The challenge of change – developing educational guidance for adults. Leicester: UDACE

Yates, J (2011). Can Career Coaching Enhance Our Profession? Constructing the Future V1. Stourbridge. Institute of career Guidance.





Contact information:

Nicki Moore International Centre for Guidance Studies (iCeGS) Institute of Education University of Derby Kedleston Road Derby DE22 1GB

T: 01332 591267

E: <u>icegsenquiry@derby.ac.uk</u> <u>www.derby.ac.uk/iCeGS</u>

Twitter: @iCeGS

Facebook: @iCeGS_UoD LinkedIn: International Centre for Guidance Studies (iCeGS)



